We find it incomprehensible that You only advised us — f at afl — of the
possible harmful side effects of the Contergan substance after signing of the
contract, although you had been aware of sych side effects long before, In the
press conference you organised at the Hote| Alsterhof, Esplanade, in
Hamburg on 13 December 1961 YOU yourselves announced that you had
been advised of the first 5 cases of Polyneuritis in the time from October to
December 1959, Another 2 cases in September 1960 in England. The press
releases by Dr. Frenkel, Kénigstein, indicate that Dr. Frenkel advised you of
his observations in 21 patients in August 1960.

We, therefore, deeply regret that we have to assert our claims in this form,
however we hope that you do not close yourselves off to our statements ang
request your early comments.

mmﬁooi.ooomwccao;w February 1962 Letter Mueckter (Grt) to Kobyletzki
(Univ. Giessen) .

Dear Dr van Kobyletzki.

{Contergan) can cross from the mother to the foetus via the placenta.
Enclosed are our findings in the form of a brief statement.

We are also generally interested in thege questions regarding our other

GRT.0001.00064.0056: 28 February 1962 Letter fo Syrian Arab Republic from

GRT

Dear Mr Redacted,

We confirm receipt of your letter dated 13. June 1962, from which we must
learn to our sincere regrets that your 2-year old S0n was born with deformities
of the arms. You ascribe this deformity to the taking of Contergan,
We would like to point out that the causality of Contergan for deform

newly born is not proven. We must therefore emphasise that our company

affected your family, and must therefore refute any allusion that is targeted at
insinuating that Contergan had been released to the market negligently. We
only realized, despite thorough and many years of testing of the medication,
for the first time in November 1961, that the suspicion of 5 possible
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Based on the afore-mentioned reasons, it is therefore strongly recommended
to reach an agreement with KALIChemie,as already suggested by Mr
Viehéver, to the effect that:

1.) we take back the 32.3 kg of CONTERGAN substance, and
2.) KALI-Chemical for their part expressly relinquish any further claims of any
Kind.

tis recommended to discuss this matter verbally with KALI-Chemie in the
near future. From our side, the same gentlemen should participate who
conducted the negotiation with KALI-Chemie at the time in 1960 and
January1961| .

2 March 1962 Letter from Dahs {legal adviser to Grt) to GRT

Dear Colleague,

To my astonishment | understand from the documents forwarded to me that
several interim injunction proceedings have been instituted. These
proceedings may be highly significant to the criminal trial. This particularly
applies fo the Frankel matter, From this the prosecutor will specifically deduce
when you were notified of injuries by Frankel. Many passages in the files of
these proceedings can assume grave importance for the criminal trial.

Having worked on the matter for several months in conjunction with fellow
lawyer Mr Gruissen, and given my shared responsibility for the eriminal trial, |
can hardly reconcile that, without prior consultation, court proceedings are
instituted which may become significant for the outcome of the matter, and
can potentially bring significant disadvantages. | would be grateful to you if
you could ensure proper coordination of the four parties (you, the lawyers
Gruessen and Kiessler, the Griinenthal company and the undersigned)
involved in the work. To serve jts purpose, correspandence is also conducted
in accordance with consistent considerations. | personally feel that it would be
right to correspond exclusively with you in future, and to forward copies for
their records to colleague Gruessen and to the client.

GRT.0001.00063.0191:27 March 1962 Note — ‘Re General Contergan Situation’
prepared by Grt Legal Department

Re General Contergan situation

The following are deliberations which aim to serve as a basis for discussion of
the question what measures are appropriate to take in the area of civil law.

| Time prior to launch

To assess whether pharmaceutical and clinical testing prior to launch were
sufficient, we rely entirely on the Schulemann assessment. There is a danger,
of course, that ancther expert will come along with a differing assessment. If
one arrives at the conclusion that Griinenthal should have carried out more
extensive or different kinds of pharmacological or clinical investigations in
various areas, we lacked the knowledge at the time that failure to do so might

A \\\W\ 87 __ // /Vf/ \ |




88 4

LONs 18y} Jno sWiny 1l §i ‘ou 8 ||im JSMmSUE 8Uj) 1B} 9pNjOXa JoUUED SAA ‘BleD
aNP 4O sjuslusiinbal yym 8oUERIoDD. Ul S 9013081d SIL3 )l SUILIEXS 0} SAEY
[liM 1NOS iy ‘eonoeid UOUILICD S) sy) J “Bupyssy ybnoloy s)idsep sbisws

184 Aeut spoaye-apis Jueoyub)s Ji - sIsA[EuE Joelsge Ul - BuBp|SUoD INOYIM
SduUelsgns MaU B UG pased s] Ji Uaym ,a1xo}-uou, janpoud jesinaseuieyd e
[2qej Ajjeotyioads o} eonoeld UOWLWOD S| 3 §) spuUSdSp 1 ‘ME] [IAJ0 0} MOIA B UIAA

“OX01 8¢ 0} N0 Wiy Jeje| pinom Brup ay) 18y} ejedionue o1 sjqissod

Ajuewiny Jou sem 3] pue ‘eouBisgns oIXo}-UoU B Ui Buljeap Ajng; siem em
¥y} uoyolauoo Buoss e 0] uonesiuelio o o uswepueb Buipes| sy} pa| pey
synsal aanisod Ajjeooanbaun asneoaq JInb J0 SUOHBSNOOE 0} PED] |IM OIX0)
~uou, ulte) ayj Jeuy Jebuep sy s 8ial) ‘paLisauoD S| ME[ [BUILLLIO SB IB) Sy

: JORUOD

[BOIpAW 0] 108[gNS USAS JOU SEM UDILM SDUBISGNS MOU B SBM apiLLopl[aL)
souts Auejnopued ‘uoiiealdde peoiq uass sey Ji jjun ebiswe jou op

pue swy Buoj e 1o} Uspply ulewal usyo Bnip e 1o sjoaye -epis jey) souspadxs
[eroush sy Jeyl ueAlB uopealpaL B JO AYDIX03-UOU BY} BUILLLISISP O} JUBION|S.
20U Usag ©ABY PINOLYS SUQ JSUjsym patamsueun sulellal uonsenb ay |

‘uonduwinsse siyj Juliad Je) snyi
psuitigns splowssasse Padxy - oIxopruocu Ajaliiua, 10 01Xo)-uou, ABojouls)
aU} Jo asn ay) saysnl awy suy e sbpsimouy| [eoifojooruieyd pue [eolpsiy

puey Ag psultepun

QIX0}-UOL, PIOM U} PUE JNO POSSOIC SEM JOU, PIOM SUj JUSWILICD S Jojejsuely ,
‘uontulsp

siy} 0} Buipioooe abpsjmouy JUsLIND U0 peseq JIXOI-UOU Jed A|sAnoalqo

s ueBiiejuos ‘siseq BujoBuo ue uo Ajuenbayy uee; ‘|pd Buidas)s e sy

"pejoadxe usaq Alqeucseas saey B jey pesnes st ebewep ou ‘Bnip e jo
BSN 8} 10} sHLUY SapeNuenb Jo ssirepunog |njesn Buipesoxe Ajssoub jo ased
3U} U usAe ‘i paliisnl 01x0}-Uou, Jo ABojoulluLe) sy} SI8pISU0S j8g|g J0SSa0ld

QIXol-uou Algys|dwon, “|

6461 1290100 |1} YouneT Jo sWelsWI ||

‘Aenuoo ayj 0} Jooud jo 82USSAE BU} JO MBIA U) SAJBSNED
se uaye} aq Aew (Aj1oixo) ouoiyo *6e) sjel; jeoiuld pue jeoibojoseweyd
1no Ao 03 BujjosiBau se yonw Se Ul Me| [IAID JapUn SISIXS YSit [Bl1} JOUI v

(wuey Alipog Jo asnes
al)) se jos|Bau eAod 0} J0Jnoascud auy} JO YSE] BU} SI I ME JBUILILD JOpUN)
"Me| [RUIWLID Japun ped Ino uo joeiBau sjgissod Jo sourAs|ol ON JNESY

‘sleaf Jaao peoige pue s1ay Bnip

oy} o] asuodsal aAlisod Ajpaaiasailin oy} 9 piNoys sIu} o Joold 9ty | "ssneo
U} Jou sf Hed ino uo sinjie} Jo 9316p e jey) Jaremoy ‘eacid o} sn Lo si

snuo ay | "youne| o} Joud Bupse} annbal Aew yolym seale Ut UsAs ‘siesk saly)
JQ 85IN03 B I1SA0 panndoo oAlehau Buiyiou Ajjeniia ‘Brup sy Jo 1o1BW Bl 0]
UooNpoUI PEOLY 8)IdSEP JeU] 198} By} U0 US| UBD aph “saunful Ajpoq o) pes)




cases oceur relatively frequently. Under civil law there will then be a case of
negligence {o answer.

Result:

Under criminal law there wili probably not be an accusation of guilt.

Under civil law guilt is likely to be assigned on this point (though the risk
should probably not be assessed as too high).

In summary of points I. and 11, it may be said that accusations which may be
made against us for the time up to October 1958, i.e. neglecting to carry out
testing (chronic toxicity) and labeling of ‘entirely non-toxic’ and ‘non-toxic’ are
insufficient grounds for criminal conviction but carry a certain risk with a view
to civil law. )

M.
Timeframe of Qctober 1959 to September 1960

1. Looking at it from a legal perspective, the time up to 2 October 1959 is
irrelevant since there was no indication of neuropathies or other injury following
the use of Contergan. :

2. On 2 October 1959 Dr Voss advised us that he was treating a 63 year-old
man who had been taking Contergan Forte as a sleeping pill for the past one

and half years and had started developing polyneuritis over the past six months.

He asked if it was possible that Contergan might lead to damage of the
peripheral nervous system.,

There is nothing legally objectionable about Dr Sievers' reply of 7 October 1959
to this case. In view of impressive positive reports and assessments at the time,
this isolated case did not oblige us to undertake a review. It was sufficient to
request that the doctor keep us updated.

3. By late December we had become aware of a further five cases (three Dr
Voss cases, two Dr Sartorius cases). We confirmed this to Dr Voss per our
letter of 17 December 1959,

Grlnenthal therefore was advised independently (?) by two doctors that
Contergan may lead to nerve damage, Dr Voss certainly voiced the opinion
most emphatically that this is so.

When a company is advised independently by different parties that a drug
causes certain injuries, this must be taken into consideration as a very real
possibility. If such reports are to be taken seriously, and in the case of Dr Voss
this is most certainly the case, a pharmaceutical company must do everything in
its power that it may reasonably be expected to do.
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The fact that we modified the produet information leafet in September 1960
suggests that we seriously took the possibility of nerve damage into
consideration. Since product information leaflets are not read regularly by long-

demanded of us. The fact that the new product information leaflet will not have
an effect for months, may be taken as an indicator that we refrained from more
effective measures in the interests of turnover.,

Result:

From a point of view of civil as well as criminal law, September 1960 is the first
truly erucial point in time, particularly in the event that more than 10 cases can
be held against us. |n any event, justifying our conduct objectively, already
appears to be a probiem.

.
Timeframe of September 1960 to mid-February 1961

The first serious reports of the observation of neuropathies by qualified
doctors fall into this time period. Dr Sievers was informed on the occasion of
his visit to the Cologne Neurology Teaching Hospital on 11 October 1980 that
Professor Wiek had observed six cases of polyneuritis subsequent to

Professor Heymer, Director of the Medical Teaching Hospital of Bonn, had
also identified polyneuritis as a sequela of exposure to long-term Contergan .
use. In summary, we became aware of at ieast 90 new cases in the time 4

leading up to mid-February.

During this entire time we did nothing other than inform ourselves. If the A
modification of the product information leaflet in September 1960 is to be seen ‘
as adequate, we must at least ask ourselves if the advice of leading medical
experts becoming known should lead to effective measures concerning the
long-term use of Contergan. By late October 1 960 so many cases had come
to light from so many quarters that we had to be careful and work on the
assumption that Contergan may cause neuropathies with long-term use. It is
for this reason that an effective policy should have been expected of the

company.*

Result:

WMo, BN Sl
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prescription-only medication. [t therefore became necessary objectively to
combine the application process with a measure which would take effect
immediately. This measure was not taken unti! 5 September 1961, however
(red sticker which read 'on doctor's orders only' - ‘sticker project). \n the
interest of consistency, this should have been done in connection with the
application for prescription-only listing since at the time, a prescription listing
in all states was not be expected in the short term. In our favour is that such
measures were absolutely unheard of, and prescription-only listing is almost
never applied for by a manufacturer. Most probably, however, such
arguments will fall on deaf ears. It was a matter of effectively averting the
dangers of Contergan use. The mere application for prescription-listing did not
represent an effective counter-measure against the dangers.*

* Translator's comment: hand-written reference says: Pharmaceutical
Commission

Result: . _

Both with a view to civil and criminal law, there is the risk that the application for
prescription-listing in itself will not be recognized as an adequate measure.

Vil

Malformations/Deformities

As it stands, we do not expect to pay damages on account of malformations or
deformities as a result of Contergan use. Aetiology remains open. The question
of guilt can clearly only be answered with a ‘no’.

This does not mean, however, that trials on account of malformations or
deformities are without any risk. Theoretically the danger of being found guilty
might come from animal trials with Contergan resuiting in
malformations/deformities. The judgment of impartial experts will determine

¢« whether festing for teratogenesis was necessary before launching the product.
If, despite our current expectations to the contrary, this question is answered in
the affirmative, then it might only be a small step to being found guilty in a civil
trial. Therefore, it is very important for us to prove that testing of Contergan for
teratogenic properties, according to scientific knowledge at the time, was not

necessary.

The above deliberations obviously do not represent a definitive legal opinion but
are intended fo roughly highlight the risk of legal proceedings based on the
guestion what

measures could have been expected and required of Griinenthal at various
stages.

RT.0001.00063.0238 4 April 1962 Note — ‘Re Contergan Situation’ by Grt legal
epartment

Re Contergan situation
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It may be said with some certainty that in such a case we will be presumed
guilty from the outset and condemned sharply and pubiicly for our lack of
willingness to carry the damage which has been done.

We must consider too that the standing of the company may possibly be
weighed down by the evidence that Contergan causes deformities even if we

are absolutely not guilty.

Ali this has the potential to threaten the existence of Grinenthal, We must
therefore do all we can to avoid being caught unawares. Precautionary
measures must actively promote the reputation of the organisation, Large
parts of public opinion have it that the financial interests of the company take
brecedence over other concerns in ways that can no longer be justified,
especially when it comes to the needs of public health. it will no doubt fake a
great deal of effort to effectively deal with such accusations,

A potentially explosive situation could be diffused if Contergan injuries
(neuropathies) were io be settled. Where seftlements are not possible due to
legat considerations, one should at least deai in-depth with the medical care
of cases. This means that we ought to have thorough medical treatment
undertaken at our expense. in the event of court praceedings it would be
particularly detrimental to the reputation of the company if we were o be
accused of not even having rectified injuries.

Also, general business policy must take the Contergan situation into account
to a much higher degree than before to avoid even a semblance of
inappropriate conduct. We must allow for a possible blowing up of
inappropriate conduct by the public which overall at least has the potential to
more or less put a seal of disrepute on Griinenthal as a company. This
particular point takes on g very special meaning. A satisfactory solution would
also block the main wellspring of staffing difficulties.

‘Measures taken on behalf of Contergan victims must be accompanied by
intensive but very carefully and tactfully managed public relations efforts
which must undemonstratively put the conduct of Griinenthal into perspective
with the medical and general press. o

Therefore the issue of setflements js only part of the prablem.
The following speaks in favour of settlements:

A mitigating effect in the case of criminal conviction and a possible disinterest
of parties filing for criminal suits once civil claims have been met. This in turn
would increase chances of achieving a ceasing of criminal proceedings.

Overall, settlements represent the cheaper solution: it is o be expected that a

number of ‘victims’ would receive settlements whose claims wauld not have
been successful in court, On the other hand, substantia| savings could be
made by means of lower settlement fees, eliminating legal and court costs as
well as substantial cuts of organisational staffing fees. Last, not least, loss
must be allowed for that is incurred on account of efforts going into the
Contergan matter which cannot be put into productive tasks for the
company.Settlements should be carried out as expeditiously as possible, The
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consider a guilty verdict possible, and one fries as hard as possible to find our
most vulnerable spot.

In the case of civil law this is not of major significance. If we settle anyway, we
do not need to argue about guilt in general or the possibility generally that _
Contergan causes neuropathies.

The question takes on a more serious meaning, however, when it comes to .
- criminal law. The fact that we are settling all cases, one by one, may lead the i
prosecutor's office to search more vigilantly for evidence of guilt since the
payments would point to a suggestion of guilt on the part of the company. On :
the other hand, guilt of the company under civil law does not imply guilt under .
criminal law of the gentlemen involved. Settlements would also more fikely
lead to a waning of public interest in criminal prosecution even though the ‘
prosecutor's office will be obliged to put through proceedings unless a matter
resolves itself of its own accord.

Therefore, one should not overestimate the danger that criminal proceedings
might be in jeopardy and consider that failure to compensate may have =
detrimental effects should we iose a criminal case after all, i

The question of the effects of settlements in the light of criminal proceedings
would require in-depth consultation with the lawyers involved, in particular
Professor Dahs.

The fear that seftlements are deemed from the outset as an admission of guilt
on the part of the outside world and that this suffices to destroy the reputation
of the company, is not justified. We must bear in mind that public opinion
today is already more or less convinced that Gritnentha is not entirely
innocent when it comes to issues surrounding Gontergan. Efforts on the part
of the company to remedy the damage caused should therefore meet with a
positive response.

Should there be strong legal concerns (in particular on the part of Professor
Dahs) about the entering into settlements, suitable measures should at least
be initiated which would enable victims to recover their health, Proposals to

this effect would need to be put forward by medical teams.

10 April 1962 Letter from Dr Weingaertner in Halle-Wittenberg to Dr Michael
(Grt)

In the meantime, | have been able to clarify the question of Contergan.
lt was indeed discussed among the central expert committee here in
the spring of 1961 as to whether a preparation corresponding to
Contergan should be produced. However, back then already, the
committee chaired by Prof. Dr jung considered the manufacture of the
preparation inappropriate due to the existing material about toxic side-
effects available to them - (perhaps the remark by Dr Vof at the
conference here in Halle). Prof: Jung informed me that he had advised
the company making the application against commencing with
developmental work in this regard. | hope to have assisted you.

GRT.0001.00063.0283: 16 April 1962 E_:moimﬂ internal Grt memo
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Measures to be considered might be:
1.) Negative reply to claimants in conjunction with renouncing the term of
limitation of liability being 31 December 1963***
2.) Introduction of suitable therapy for patients at our expense without
acknowledgement of legal obligation
3.) Compensation settlement along the lines of settlements of August and
September.

In the event that we go down none of the paths 1.) o 3.), we will very soon
have to answer for Contergan polyneuritis in a civil case.

V. Timeframe of 15 February to 25 May 1961

Following reports of polyneuropathies subsequent o thalidomide use in
England in early January 1861 and the Voss lecture, those involved finally
understood that Contergan polyneuritis needed to be taken seriously as
leading specialists in internai medicine and neurologists demanded. At least
the parties involved realised that the likelihood of Contergan causing nerve
damage could not be considered slight. Inevitably, this posed the question
how possible damage caused by the product could be prevented.

Legally appropriate measures needed to be taken under public safety
obligation. In a similar case the Federal Supreme Court has defined liability
with respect to public safety obligation in its decree of 10 July 1951 (Insurance
Law 1, 60) on page 343 as follows:

Having looked into similar cases, the Senate has already acknowledged for
similar cases that “... The manufacturer of a product ... irrespective of
contractual basis may be required under aspects of averting danger to ...
instruct in safely measures required. The verdict of 5 November 1955
(Insurance Law 55, 765) lists the case of a poisonous pest control product
brought on to the market: Manufacturers must examine.if the product could
possibly be used in a way that ... might harm the user. If such use is possible
while taking due care, the onus is on the manufacturer to see to it that
consumers are adequately informed of the possible dangers of the product
and the scope of its use ...

The legal thought processes of this verdict are applicable to the case now to
be decided on. If the use of an adhesive is so dangerous as shown in the
case of product X, then general public safety obligations require a
manufacturer of a product to clearly make consumers aware of the dangers
and educate them about safety measures to take when using the product.”

To satisfy requirements of safety obligations, we considered the

following measures:

1.} Application for prescription-only status in conjunction with effective
urgent measures.

2.) Advising doctors and pharmacists.

3.) Advising consumers by means of unmissable information on packages
and/or product information leaflets.
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the risk of litigation as well as the issue of what needs to be done to maintain
the reputation of the organisation as a pharmaceutical company.

As indicated in the Note of 18 April 1962, very considerable risks of civil law
suits arise from September/October 1960. The Note highlighted a number of
issues associated with risks which cannot be assessed for their uitimate
verdict by the judge at this stage.

It is to be expected, however, that in civil cases the facts of the matter will
largely be resolved through the involvement of ‘solidarity groups of Contergan
victims’ and other lobbies. It will hardly be possible for us to restrict the
‘material under review in proceedings, especially since it is to be expected that
we will have {o respond to detailed presentations from the opposite bench.

As Dr Elbel's supplementary appraisal demonstrates, new documentation
continues to emerge all the time which shifts the facts of the matter and puts a
negative spin on things. Likewise the same applies to all personal statements
which show abundantly what sorts of problems we can expect to be dealing
with into the future.

Under these circumstances, it is not to be expected that our conduct will be
judged objectively as justified on all counts. Should a court find that
Grlnenthal did not take

due care possibly in several aspects of the measures it should have
objectively been expected to take, then it will not take much to establish the
guilt required to arrive at a guilty verdict in a civil case. It is well known that the
degree of guilt is irrelevant in such a case. Proof of minor negligence is
sufficient.

If guilt is established at all, it will almost certainly fall into the timeframe of the
first months of 1961 at the latest. Since Contergan use of individual victims
went on until about mid-1961 in most cases, this, as a rule, would point to guilt
of causing at least part of the injuries in individual cases.

And so we should draw the conclusion that in all probability we can expect to
lose most civil suits brought against us.

The outcome of pending criminal proceedings is impossible to predict at the
present time. It may be said, however, that chances of success are
considerably better than in the case of civil proceedings. Nevertheless, the
risk of individual parties involved being convicted is not exactly small either.

Under these circumstances, it appears appropriate fo err on the side of
caution and be prepared far a negative outcome of legal proceedings in the
Contergan matter., -

This means that the position of the company must be strengthened so that it
can absorb the heavy blow that a defeat in the case would bring about, A
strengthening of the position of the company can only be achieved by means

of an improvement in its reputation. The reputation of the company will surely /\ .
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We might be prejudged as far as guilt is concerned. Looking at it from a legal
perspective, the question of guilt remains open in the case of ex gratia
settlements. [t should not be underestimated, however, that psychologically
courts are being pressured into a guilty verdict. This would imply that we
consider a guilty verdict possible, and one fries as hard as possible to find our

most vulnerable spot.

Whether or not the above considerations are still valid today, is a question
which depends on whether or nor the financial risk which the company runs
by following along the above lines, remains below the line of economic

feasibility.

It is difficult to comment on this question, in particular because it is not
possible at the present time fo establish an accurate esiimate of the number
of potential civil claims and the level of such claims.

In about 80% of all cases seeking redress, claims have been made based only
on a cause and not an amount. Medical clarification of these cases carried out
in the past months allows for an approximate estimate of the possible amount of
claims (implying liability on the part of the company). In any case there is bound
to be a large number of unknown cases.

Our experiences with settlements of August/September 1961 give us some
indication.

According to this, one might subdivide cases according to the following
percentages:

1. 20% mild cases in the order of DM 1,000.00 —
2,000.00

2. 70% medium-range cases in the order of DM 2,000.00 -
4,000.00

3. 10% severe cases in the order of DM 4,000.00 —
and more

We currently have 360 cases seeking redress and approximately 800 cases
where we have entered into correspondence according to a PNP report without
a claim having been made so far.

Dr Frenkel claims that about 1,000 cases of redress have registered a claim,
and it is to be assumed that a number of claimants have registered with us as
well as Dr Frenkel. Over the past two months approximately three new cases
per week seeking redress have surfaced. There have been virtually no new
reports coming in from our field staff via PNP.

After repeated severe denunciation through the press, we therefore assume
that in addition to the above figure of approximately 2,000 cases (registered
with us and Dr Frenkel), we may expect an increase of up to double that figure
at the most. Assuming a maximum figure of 4,000 cases, this would have the
following financial implications based on the above estimates of percentages:
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b) The first teratology trial which is currently under way in Berlin allows us
to assume that we will have the first positive verdict in the first legal
instance in the not too distant future.

c) As far as civil frials are concemed, no verdict against us has been
recorded via PNP.

This puts us in a strong position that allows us to tackle the levels of claims in
the context of settlement negofiations with some conviction since the matter of
entitlement fo a claim has by no means been established. This uncertainty is
bound to have a bearing on the reduction of a claim.

At the moment the argument of lengthy time perieds going by for claimants,
who have to wait out their own civil or criminal claims, also speaks for us. At
the end of the day the consideration cannot be far from claimants’ minds that
they run the risk of receiving only a share or maybe nothing at all after years
of waiting or trials if the funds of the company have been exhausted by
settlerments of previous claims.

As such we arrive at the following conclusion:

1. The question whether claims for redress on account of nerve damage
are dealt with by means of settlement or via the courts, touches on a
threat to the existence of the company.

2. In view of unfavourable prospects in civil suits (see Note of 18 April
1962 re General Contergan situation) the above indicates that the total
amount of damage may have to be revised upward by 50% bringing us
to the brink of insolvency.

3. Should one or several gentlemen of the company be convicted in a
criminal trial, this would be a huge blow to us. In view of everything we
know, we assume, however, that it should be possible to at least
partially absorb such a blow to the reputation by means of boosting
one's efforts, drawing on distinguished scientists and, if we are lucky,
infroduction of new, important drugs in so far as the means to achieve
this remain at our disposal.

4. The conclusion to draw from points one to three is that a favourable
outcome of criminal trials {dismissal of claims or not-guilty verdict for all
accused) cannot be given priority over the problem of satisfying the
claims for redress.

B. Summary of considerations which speak for and against settlements in so
far as they have not been deait with under A.

The following speaks in favour of setflements:

A mitigating effect in the case of criminal conviction and a possible disinterest of
parties filing for criminal suits once civil claims have been met. This in turn
would increase chances of achieving a ceasing of criminal proceedings,

j22 2N R




/\meﬁ/ / ‘ : 90T \
. 1aNpLI0O @y} wiojul [im sdnosb jsaisyul Jo jonpuoo YL "Jlejep sinuIw up seses

[BUILILID JO synsal atp Apnys Ajqewinsaid (1M oum sdnoub 1sais)ur Jo sanIAlDE
SU} 10} MOjjB JeASMOY ‘1SN oM 8sED SI} Ut "swies o ensind o Juewiepo
[enusod e Auew sBenoosip PINOM $8SED {BUILULIO U] BLIOOINO [NSS800ns

& "AljeuwioN “seseo AL ul ASH JoMO] B U0 JUN0D Ajliesssosu JoU UED om
Wswdoiensp sigeinone; e oye) sBuipasaoid jeunuus slsym usas ‘aloeIey |

‘Alqeinone} pemain 8g Aew me| a0 Jspun aousbifau jey; ualedde aleoa(
PINoa  “Arenbs A3jnb jou peWeap Buieq panjoau sejued Y] 1nq ‘puey

SU0 Byl Lo Ajlanoslqo fe uj possaesse 1onpuos sjeudolddeu Jo Jusuysiqelse
S} 0} swono salsod e amoe Ajgeqold PINCM 2Mm 3sneoaq 1 siy |

"SHnE Ao Ul sn BunyBy 1oy spunolb

SIIal JoAlI8p jlam Aew ssayy ‘pue eayisod & OME] 88S.D [BUILLLO I USAT] 'SaSED
IS Ul s8200ns Jo seoueyd oy Inoge sjou jo Bujpiue Aes Ajpsesseoeu jou
S80p siifi ‘pales|o ale panjoau; salued 8y} Jo paddoip eq o} siem sbuipessaid
[BUILLILID J} “uoiido Jsaq sy) jJuasasdal pinom uolinjos juswaipes pauonuaw
-9A0qE 8y} Allesd ualy 'uonoiauos e 0} PE®] 0] alom 858D |BUILILID B |

"HNOD U} penas aq pinoys seses

983U} Jgnop s|qeucseal e puokaq pausiiqe)sa aq ueo Ayjesnen jey; puy
sBurpseooid 1o yi Ajugy unoo Ul Ylim [eap os|e pinols am ‘selinfu; pebaje
U} jo ABojonee ay; uiejdxe Ausioyns Jou saop uebi2iuo) eioym sase)

"UOIOIALOD & 0] peg)

O} saalyns 1inb Jo saibap jseybys sy usas ley; uanlb Jealb ooy Jeadde pnon
01 Buiof ur paajoau) sysi ayy OSnedsq sjusLuaIes ojul palsjue am Jey) souels
Uil sy} 8xe} 0 S MOjje pInom siy | 'ME) Jo LnoD e Ut payslgeIss jou sem
WNB jo Jusixe ayy 4 ebejueApe lueoyiuBls B aq pjnom 3| “Jayyio 39Nss| pale|sl
“OAIBU 10} SUNS IO U PBIOIALOD JOU BleM pue SHNS Uoljewlofjew sy uj puey

- Jaddn ey Bujurpuew jo abew ue Jussald pjnom em PHOM Bpisinoc 8yl 0

B : '$9580 |[e Ajjeo)noeid Uf uonsAUGD [IAID & ploAe 0] 9jqissod aq
4 PINGYS 3 “suuel SIU) uj "UOIOIALUGD PIOAR 0} Alesseosu s| se Aj@sop se wyepo
Bl L9JeL o) sABY |iIM BuU0 ‘aqg pasu | Juepadald e ysiigelse o) sandsip jebo;
: UM ShuRUOS pinoys suo “seses yons up "unao au} Jo disy aly ypm pansiyoe
4 Pinoys syuewsmes a)eldoldde seses 1sowl Ul Jey; uosesal 0} spuejs

_ H "Unod o] 0f sases yons jo| o) SABY ||IM 8M ‘payoral ag JouUeD JusWwees
B 81aypn "ajeudoldde eq o) uses uolinjos & JoJ wie pinoys am ‘Jayiey ‘ued

NG Uo ssaupapull Anad jo jiids e ul PRIANPUOD 8g jou pinoys suonepobop

“SWIEJO Jajjews auy Jo yng ayj yum Bujesp Joye Ajuo Juswiemes jo ssbers

(B 84} 0} peedold pinoys swielo JoyBiH jsiy Uiim Jleap aq pinoys sluen

: 19mo} 8l | "s|qrssod se Ajsnoiypadxs se 1no palued aq pinoys sjusLlajeg

‘Auedwios ay} 104 syse) saponpoid oju ind 94 Jouued yojym seyjew uebisjuon
8u} ol Buioh spiogs o Junosoe Uo parnou si 1By} Jo} pamojle aq jshw

SS0] Jses) Jou Jse "s39; Buyyess feuopesiuebio J0 sING fenuelsgns se [jom

S€ $1800 UNoo pue |efs) Bugeuiune ‘ses} Jusluapos Jamoy Jo sueaW Ag spew
84 pinoo sBuiaes |efuelsqns ‘puey JaLjo sy U ‘Unoo Ul {NS$900NS Usaq
SABL JOU DINOM SLUIBJO 8S0UM SIUBLISIES SAI8081 pInom SWIROIA, jo Jagwinu

B Jeu pejoadxs aq o} sl 3 :uolnjos Jedeays ay; jussaidas sjuals|es ‘felen0




of all victims irrespective of whether or not they directly participate in the
activities of the interest group.

Without a doubt the first finalised settlements already will become known
publicly. The interest group surrounding Dr Frenkel can be counted on to see
to this. It is possible that Dr Frenkel will attempt to disrupt the finalisation of
setflements by calling on his members in circulars to interest groups not to
negotiate directly with us. Presumably a not insubstantia| segment will not be
dissuaded from entering into setilement negotiations with us however. I the
long run more and moare interest groups will tend to opt for cash now rather
than wait a long time while living with the uncertainty of a trial risk.

There is also a possibility that Dr Frenkel wili attempt to enter into a showcase
settlement with us as in the case of the Volkswagensparer trial,

Will the number of cases seeking redress jump up once the resuits of the first
settlements become known?

To some extent this may well be the case, but we need to bear in mind that
we will certainly not be faced with more claims as a result of such reports than
as a result of ongoing press coverage, lost civil trials or criminal trials. In arny
case we will have to be prepared for claimants who will approach us anew
following the first reports in the press of claims we have settled.

Effect of settlements on the attitude of doctors and pharmacists: due to the
negative publicity to date, we will have to be prepared for a loss of confidence
with doctors and pharmagists. Negative outcomes i

years.

Shouid doctors and pharmacists accuse us of deliberate delay tactics, as Dr
Frenkel claims, our sales representatives can explain that we have needed time
fo ciarify the medical circumstances of individual cases. This is the only way we
could hope to arrive at a reasonably clear picture of the type and extent of
injuries. Sensible doctors will appreciate that we cannot possibly make instant
cash payments to every malingerer without medicai assessment of the
background of a case.

In the event that we are accused by Dr Frenkel that delays amount to
malpractice on the part of the doctors in our employment:

As we explained already in our press release in early January 1962, addressing
the interest group of ‘Contergan vietims’, we must solve every single case
medically and legally. Technical problems are the main reason why working
towards a resolution has taken time. For each case we have had to write to a
aumber of doctors whose workloads have been such that a speedy reply has
not been possible. We have also had inaccurate data of patients which has
necessitated further enquiries and other issues. Besides, only legal experts can
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of the company, is not justified. We must bear in mind that public opinion
today is already more or less convinced that Grlinenthal is not entirely
innocent when it comes to issues surrounding Contergan. Efforts on the part
of the company to remedy the damage caused should therefore meet with a
positive response.

The question of the effects of settlements in the light of criminal proceedings
would require in-depth consultation with the lawyers involved, in particular
Professor Dahs.

28 May 1962 Letter from GRT to Dr Lehmann

... We can advise you of the foliowing:

1. Generally Contergan does not affect ovarian function. it was observed in
isolated cases where patients who were regularly taking Contergan had
menstrual cycle problems that these virtually instantly disappeared once
the substance had been discontinued. Since these were extremely rare
findings that did not in any way correspond to the animal test results, the
patients could not and/or were not subjected to any further gynaecological
or endocrine examinations.

2. In animal experiments a certain spasmolytic effect on the uterine muscles
was ascertained, however, in the absence of comparative clinical studies,
no statement can be made on the relevance of these findings.

3. During the clinical tests Contergan was of course also trialied in
gynaecological and obstetrics departments. The resulting experiences
were unreservedly good. The substance was administered both pre- and
post-surgical procedures and before and after giving birth, At that time no
notable side-effects were reported by any of the clinics. Unfortunately, we
do not know if any women in the early stages of preghancy were amongst
the several hundred patients treated in this manner, since no such details
were contained in the documentation.

GRT.0001.00064.0088: 20 July 1962 Letter from F Heinrich to Dr von Veltheim

Dear Dr. von Veltheim!

Subsequent to our conversation held in Stolbery, | politely take the liberty of
sending you two reports written by me on Contergan side effects from 1959 and
1860 annual report I have already pointed out that the reai Contergan side
effects have been observed, which we must assess with the necessary
seriousness.

(e
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them are unambiguously deformities caused by Thalidomide? The total
number of ten affected families in 170 births - this detail is from Dr. Siewers in
his discussion contribution during the symposium in Den Haag in September
1963 - is so unusually large that using it from a scientific as well as from a
legal point of view would cause sensation. Especially because of this it
appears o be important to me that it should be ensured that a child with a
cleft palate or a meningomylocele isn't in this group by accident, i.e. with a
deformity which can be observed refatively commonly anyway. Should you
consider my thoughts to be correct, i request your suggestion as to the form in
which such an examination would at best be carried out. Naturally a short one
off visit it is enough for the determination, whether or not it is a matter of a
typical case of Contergan. For a scientifically as well as legally impeccable
documentation on the other hand it would be better if the children were
subjected to the same radiographical and electrocardiographical :
investigations as the children which | have to assess for the expert report for
the trial. To strike a balance it could be possible that the four children which
-are the subjects of debate could be investigated in the Aachen Clinic by Prof.
Schoenenberg - follawing the same guidelines which we have exhibited for
investigations here in Bonn. | would be thankful for your point of view,
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on bone marrow and especially on the nervous system, cannot be
released for clinical tests on humans without intensive, chronic studies

inds of animals - the only except
Use can be expected to bring decisive advantages in ﬁmgsqmmﬁm:mno
situations. In these instances, clinical trials on humans are justifiable.

2.This last stipulation is never given as far as sedatives are
concerned. Thalidomide was never, not even when it was introduced,
credited with decisive life-saving significance,

dispensing (without med
justifiable.,

If any kind of side effects are observed, physicians using the
medication should be informed of them quickly so that serious
consequences can be avoided.

4. These requirements were not met in the case of thalidomide.

Discoveries of thalidomide’s heurotoxicity were not brought to the
doctors’ attention by the manufacturer.

5.The occurrence of specific side effects (neurotoxicity efc.}) in humans
necessitates renewed testing of the v:mﬁsmco_omvx of such g
‘Substance. At the same time, this substance should be limited in its
availability (e.g. only on prescription). These relevant measures were
not taken as far as thalidomide is concerned. (Thalidomide was
available over the counter in West Germany).

8.Every scientist who is working in the field of toxicology knows that g
specific toxic effect observed on an animal does not necessarily mean
that it has to appear in a similar fashion in humans or ancther animal,
The occurrence of an embryo-toxic effect as g known neurotoxic
connection (animal and humany) is therefore not an unforeseeable fact,
but has to be considered as a passibility.

7. After it was first reported that embryopathy was suspected by an
Australian doctor - especially as it was known that thalidomide

In 1961, approval of thalidomide as g medical drug in the GDR was
the subject of a consultation among experts (clinicians,

Mg A
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reasonably accurately, the following was said: Soon after the opening remarks
of the conversation, Dr Sievers asked me the question as to whether | thought
it was right to withdraw the preparation from the market. | replied that this was
of course a very serious decision but that | thought it was necessary to
withdraw the preparation from the market. | recall having added too that in this
regard he should alsc expiicitly pass on to the owner of the Gritnenthal
company from me that | personally know this gentleman from the time of my
work in Aachen, where | visited his family as a doctor.

BDr Sievers then said that further queries directed at numerous psychiatrists
and paediatricians had not resulted in any reports about damage but only in
favourable assessments of Contergan. The manufacturing plant was therefore
determined not to withdraw Contergan from the market for the time being. |
then explained that the injuries, the nerve paralyses, that had already been
observed, were nevertheless very disquieting. [1 said that] the sleep
medications in the barbituric acid series were aiso capable of causing a
number of injuries but that these were known to us and were not as serious
overall. [I said that] Contergan belonged to a totally new active group and that
the possibility certainly existed that it was interfering with the enzyme
processes in the cells in a yet.unknown manner, and that further injuries may
weli transpire. Towards the end of the conversation | believe to have given
another reminder as to the fact that [ had advocated the withdrawal of
Contergan from the market. At any rate, | still added that | would be observing
the further conduct of the Rosenthal company with great attention. This last
sentence was correctly represented in Dr Siever's report.

Archive document: 15 March 1963 Statement of Pharmacist Koch {who
had written to Grt about a maiformed baby in November 1960)

The pharmacist Friedrich Ko ¢ h, born on 22.7.1899 in Bad Hersfeld,
declared at his residence in Lingen/Ems, Emsstrasse 4:

[ have just been presented with a photocopy of a letter addressed o me
written by Chemie Griinenthal on 2. December 1960 I still remember the
events in connection with this letter very well,

I have been a licensed pharmacists since 1926, During ail of my employment |
took it for granted that [ had to be aware and take special care when selling
medications to pregnant women. | think | am justified in saying that it is
common knowledge that the female organisms is particularly sensitive during
pregnancy. This means that during this time a woman cannot tolerate
everything she normally would. | was certainly not the only one with this
viewpoint, but rather it was definitely shared by a large number of my
colleagues. Therefore 1 believe that the thought that the unborn child could be
negatively influenced via the mother through exposure to something —
chemicals for instance ~ has been around for years now. | cannot say whether
I had read relevant publications in

technical journals years ago. However, | could not exclude this possibility.
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Thus reassured by the company, 1 continued to sell Contergan in my
pharmacy. Then a customer told me that he had to go to hospital to be treated

for severe constipation which was caused by using Contergan. | will advise

Contergan. Other customers with whom | subsequently discussed the issue,
had not experienced this,

As a pharmacist, you only find out that a company has changed the directions
for use (packaging leaflet) if a customer asks you about it or through a special
notification by the manufacturer or in the technical press, However, | do have
to add that as far as notifications by the manufacturer are concerned, a

long career, a manufacturer would frequently send out letters wh
labelled in such a conspicuous and eye-catching way as tc demand the
recipient’s attention.

I do not remember receiving a letter regarding Contergan by the company
Griinenthal which was labelled in such a conspicuous way prior to
publications about Contergan’s side effects appearing in the technical press. It

This is all | can say about the Contergan issue, Friedrich Kach

GRT.0001.00029.0160: 2 December 1980 Letter from GRT to Koch (the Grt
response to his letter about the malformed baby)

Dear Mr Pharmacist,

We thank you for your kind jetter dated 24 November in which you are asking
as to whether a child could develop injuries if the mother has been regularly
taking Contergan during her pregnancy.

Based on all observations and findings on hand to date, in particular from
gynaecological departments, we can hegate any causal connection here. Untif
now not a single indication exists at all to suggest that g human or animaf —

irrespective of age — could suffer any form of liver damage through -
Contergan. We therefore like to safely assume that the liver damage
m\ 117 ’ Q
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my letter of 28 November 1961 to Dr Lenz in Hamburg. According to that |
consider it likely that | raised this with a representative of the Stolberg plant
after all. However, | cannot recall details of the names or the actual persons
who visited me as medical sales representatives. The reason for this is
probably simply the fact that there were long intervals between their
appearances here. In addition | am very frequently visited by staff of other
companies. | do not know if | would be able to make an identification in a line-

up.
My daughter currently lives at my home.

There are no known physical or mental defects in either my or my wife’s
family. | also state expressly that we wanted our daughter.

GRT.0001.001 06.0107: 4 May 1963 Mrs H Statement

Mrs [Redacted], nee [Redacted], domiciled in Munich, [Redacted], born on 11
March 1922 in Riedering, District Rosenheim, when visited declares the
following:

| was pregnant in the time from December 1858 until May 1960. In May 1960 |
miscarried. Back then | was hospitalised infermittently at the Clinic
Geisenhafer, Munich, Tivolistr., and given Contergan.

After speaking to my husband, Dr Geisenhofer also prescribed Contergan to
- me after | was discharged. -

| had already asked during that pregnancy if | could take the preparation
without any concern. Dr Geisenhofer responded to me at the time that
according to the manufacturing plant materials, the medication was
completely non-dangerous. | know that he is very thorough and went io
particular efforts in our case especially.

At the beginning of 1960 | was expecting another child. Conception occurred
on October 3 or 4™, Back then, we wanted a child. Dr Geisenhofer had
already told me earlier that | should ensure to be in good physical condition in
the event of a new pregnancy. That was in fact the case in October.

In November/December 1960 | suffered from vomiting and sleeplessness.
Because | was kKeen to keep the child in any case and to keep myself calm, |
took Contergan during this period, which again had been prescribed by Dr
Geisenhofer. which had been prescribed again by Dr Geisenhofer. Moreover,
we still had doctor's samples at home. | then went to see Dr Geisenhofer once

every month.

It was either during this pregnancy, namely at the beginning, or during my first
pregnancy, that we were visited by a representative of the Griinenthal
company, whose name or appearance | no lenger recall today. | only know
that it was a man, probably middle-aged. We asked back then, if | could take
Contergan without any concerns. The manufacturer plant's representative
explicitly emphasized that Contergan was compietely non-dangerous, and
particularly suitable for pregnant women. He also said that it was impossible
to kill oneself with Contergan. If I had known that Contergan could cause

7
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The contact between research and the commercial side was very loose at the
Grunenthal company. When questioned about Dr Miickter, | am convinced
that, despite his revenue share, he has remained in the sphere of research
and production. However, | have to qualify this by adding that he also
contacted the export and licence countries on various occasions to smooth
tensions that were occasicnally caused by Mr Leufgen's tacilessness. Dr
Muckter was the proper man to do so because he enjoyed considerable
prestige as a scientist. It was presumably through attending international
congresses, possibly also through various holiday trips, that Dr Miickier
presumably came in contact with the company’s representatives abroad,
heard complaints of the company’s partners, and was thus able to eliminate
certain upheavals. This was probably especially the case in the year 1957,
when | joined the company and the various responsibilities had not yet been
clearly assigned.

The licence countries were not reporting to my department, so that | cannot
say anything about pessible negotiations, which Dr Miickter may have
conducted with the Distillers and Merrel] company. Dr von Schrader — who as
I recollect acted as Dr Miickter's deputy until late 1958, and transferred to the
licence department after tensions with the latter or with Mr Leufgens —
established contact with the Merrell company, and later worked the US market
and the other licence markets as scientific staff to the licence department.
When the issue of Contergan polyneuritides became acute later on, Dr von
Schrader was assigned to work on this.

The turnover of preparations containing thalidomide did not get off to a good
start initially. | was responsible to work the South American, African and Asian
markets amongst others. The usual doses of 100 mg was apparently too high
for consumers there, so that frequent reports of headaches and comparable
symptoms were coming in. As far as | remember | suggested producing
tablets with 50 mg thalidomide in 1960, and also pushed this through. | am
convinced that these pharmaceuticals would have resulted in good business
in the areas | worked on in the fong run. This is particularly true for the
combination preparations, which, labeled non-toxic, were highly suitable to

fight pain.

In 1960, towards the end of that year at the latest, | heard of the occurrence of
polyneuritides after Contergan use for the first time. This late information was
probably due to the fact that the three departments responsible for sales —
domestic, license partners and export countries ~ were kept separate from
each other extremely strictly, and that sharing information was not common

practice.

I did not receive any such damage notifications from abroad, which amongst
other reasons may have been due to the relatively low turnover, Even if
individual notifications indicating a connection between Contergan and
polyneuritis had been received, given the nontoxicity emphasised by
Grinenthal again and again, these surely would not have been taken
seriously. In any case, we would have aftributed such damage to another
substance. The total non-poisonous character of Contergan, which was
continuously explicitly emphasised, would simply not have permitted any other
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instance, were handled by Mr von Veltheim. For example, Mr von Veltheim
sometimes spoke to me about taking out an export risk guarantee. Since
these were large amounis of money, and | was aware that Hermann Wiriz
already shied away from spending significantly lesser amounts, | voiced my
concerns in this regard.

But Dr von Veltheim said that if he advised Mr Hermann Wirtz to take out such
an insurance, then he would do so. The contract was then indeed concluded.

Dr von Veltheim’s work during the course of 1961 increasingly focussed on
Contergan damage, so that eventually he exclusively worked on this, and had
an office at the Griinenthal headquarters. Roughly at about the same time as
von Veltheim, Dr von Schrader was assigned to the Contergan issue. While
von Veltheim was inifially the dominant personality within the group with Dr
Sievers only playing a subordinate role, Dr von Schrader later succeeded in
getting the upper hand. Anyhow, this was the impression gained outside. How
the internal power relations played out, | cannot say with cerfainty because
the Contergan committee, which as such had indeed already existed since
spring, was heavily shielded towards the outside. Around the early autumn of
1961, | had to give up two of my doctors — | no longer remember details of the
names ~ to be assigned to the Contergan committee. | heard absolutely
nothing back about the current state of affairs from either of them.

While Chauvisiré was charged with sales and human resources within the
company, Hermann Wirtz nearly exclusively occupied himself with the
financial aspects. Hermann Wirtz also made the decisions, It is my certain
opinion that both were fully informed, including about the details, of what was
happening in the Contergan committee. | am concluding this from remarks
made by Chauvistré at the occasion of the meetings, which preceded the
withdrawal of the preparation. Following the withdrawal of Contergan, |
presented Hermann Wirtz with the draft of my letter to the international
representatives. The conversation af that time also demonstrated that to the
greatest extent he was informed about everything to do with Contergan.

The interview is continued at 14:00 hours.
Herr Kinzli further states:

in the time after 15 February 1961, and during and after the time the various
negative publications appeared, the Contergan side-effects were vigorously
discussed within the company — particularly of course within the domestic
department and the licence department. However, today | no longer
remember any striking opinions. The reason for this may be that | was nearly
solely occupied with problems concerning foreign countries, and that we had
not received any such communications from abroad. Whether or not Dr
Muckter opposed amending the brochures and patient information leaflets, |
no longer exactly know today. Anyhow, | cannot remember anything about it,

In my opinion, Mssrs Leufgens and Winandi were fully informed about what
was going on in the Contergan committee. This can be concluded from
remarks made by both of them at various BKS and other meetings during
1961. Moreover, Winandi was the person immediately concerned because the
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above-mentioned statements by Dr Werner and the response by Dr Miickter
were made before this trip. Upon questioning, | deciare that I do not know
anything about an enquiry from Finland as to whether Contergan was fit to
pass through the placenta, Finland was not part of my area of activity,
However, certain incoming items were not even presented to me first but
directly forwarded to the Contergan committee. This complied with the

In mid-November 1 961, Dr Muckter gave 5 presentation at a meeting, it was a
BKS, on a suspicion uttered by Dr Lenz about a possible connection between
Contergan and malformations in newborns. These statements were generally
noted with unease, as though one did not really believe them. The events
surrounding Contergan had already developed in such a way without this
suspicion that, while this further accusation was noted, it no longer had the
effect of a sensation. | stjl| remember that several gentlemen from the
research department — I can no longer recall individual names — made ironic
remarks about Dr Lenz (son of & top Nazi, nothing sensible could be expected
from somebody with the first name "Widukind”, or similar remarks of this ilk).

ft was eventually determined during this meeting that Schrader, and as far ags |
can recall another member of the Grinenthal Company, were to drive fo
Hamburg to get in contact with Lenz. The further procedures to do with the
withdrawal of the preparation are known to the prosecutor. This is why further
deliberations on this would be superfluouys, especially since | was not involved
in the critical meeting which lead to the withdrawal.

When again questioned about the statements made by Dr Werner that one
would have to examine as to whether thalidomide was breaking through the
placental barrier, | further state that sometime [ater — but prior to the
withdrawal of the preparation from the market — 1 enquired via Dr Eckard
about what happened with the matler. | heard that the trials were under way,
but that no determinations had been made in ejther direction.

rchive document: 11 July 1963 Statement of Brandt {(doctor who reported a
1alformed baby to Grt prior to the cessation of thalidomide sales)

I have been a registered medical practitioner since 1949, and then worked in
various hospitals as an assistant physician. | mainly worked in surgery. In
1959 | started my own practice as a generai practitioner here in Lilbeck.
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After experimenting with thalidomide on rats for about 2 % months, | used the
substance on male chicks. Apart from general questions, | was interested to
see whether it was possible to reproduce polyneuritides. At the time, Chemie
Grinenthal had no knowledge of the type of experiments | was conducting.
However, they always fulfilled my requests immediately.

The trials with male chicks yielded surprising results which were later
published in the magazine Fiir die gesamte experimentelle Medizin [For all
branches of experimental medicine] 1962, page 454 — 459 {volume 135) as
well as in volume 136, page 86-96 of the same magazine. To this extent | am
referring to both studies. :

In October 1961 Dr Michael from Chemie Griinenthal visited me. | remember
that we discussed thalidomide’s mechanism of action in connection with the
resuits of the trial involving the male chicks. | had made a short note about our
conversation, which reads:

“ 13.10.1961
2pm - 3.30 pm
Visit Dr Michael
(Grunenthal)
“Excerpts of the findings were presented:
1) photos,
2) graphs showing weight,
3) histology, liver and spleen, Fe - colouration.

Dr Michael was not familiar with thaiidomide’s mechanism and metaboiism.
Grunenthal had carried out trials aimed at Vitamin B (B1, B6). (Pigeons
beriberi) without any results.

I was promised the information once the trials were concluded.”

I am shown Dr Michael's report on his trip from 24.10.1061. His statements
accurately describe the essential content of our discussion.

| cannat remember whether Dr Michael and | elaborated on thalidomide’s side
effects in human

medicine. | cannot remember in particular whether my visitor announced any
figures of reports of side effects received by Chemie Griinenthal, However, |
am relatively certain that these questions had not been discussed because
they did not touch on our subject.

I'recall also a visit by Dr Beckmann - according to my documentation it took
place in March 1963 —during which he argued against my vitamin-B-
hypothesis; see my publications for further details.
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As to the letter by Chemist Kaben to head office on 27.1 1958, which was
shown to me in extracts, in which it is noted that
a) casuistry was omitted, to make the publication more dynamic and forcefy]

practice, if | would delay the "Contergan paper”,
| can retort with the following:

As to the text passage about the competitor company or the finangial

assistance respectively | am lost for words and itis a mystery to me, why

representatives of other pharmaceutical companies knew that | had been
testing a preparation called "Contergan” at the time. There had never been
any talk about things as Kaben reported them,

At a much later point in time Chemist Mr Kaben approached me with the
request of compiling an extended Contergan paper, | very explicitly refused
this, especially because | had not prescribed Contergan any more after my
first investigation. in our clinic, doctors never prescribed a medication,

I am being shown a letter from July 1958 (Dr Werner), which had at the time
been sent to ail Eamvm:amzzvx practicing doctors by the Company and which
begins with the words "During pregnancy and breast feeding...."

This latter is totally unknown ta me and [ am seeing it today for the first time.
From the contents one would have to assume that | had reported in my paper
to have prescribed the sleep drug Contergan during Pregnancy and breast
feeding, because it harms neither the mother nor the child. As already
mentioned, this is not the case and | would have
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Thalidomide in this context had not caused me to see them as being so
probable that | should have reported them.

I can say with absolute certainty that, untii November 1961, | had not notified
the Main Administration of Chemie Gruenthal of any susp

preparations  containing Thalidomide possibly hay
properties, as far as | can remember. Apart from this all reports of mine to

Chemie Gruenthal have been made available to the Aachen District Attorney,
Archive document: 14 September 1965 Deposition DrR S and husband DrR s
Appearing is

Dr. (R 8)...since the 8.2.1 954 I have been married to Dr. med. (J 8), specialjst
in internal medicine. From this marriage, two children have resulted, .

While the first child was born completely healthy, the child S had the following
defects: Underdeveloped nose skeleton with saddle-nose, shortening of the

Upper lip and paralysis of fac
The absence of both ear sheils with the exception of the tragus and the

After the first birth | had an abortion in the autumn of 1958 in the third month
after a highly febrile infection. After this incident I had my period regularly.

the 11./12. April 1959.

The birth date calculated by us would have been the 18.1.1960. Should
individual dates be of significant importance, these could, if need be, be
requested from Medical Superintendent Dr. Schank's patient files. The course
of pregnancy was without peculiarity, if one doesn't consider that { had g very
bad feeling during the whole course of pregnancy. | had noticed in particuiar
that child movements in contrast to the first bregnancy had been strangely
rhythmic.

* The medication Contergan was known to me by name. At the point in time at
which the medication was released | was a privately practising doctor in
Wiesbaden. | can say with certainty that | myself took the medication
Contergan-forte (tablets) after my flu infection in the autumn of 1958 as g
sleep drug in the evenings. Taking it was according to need. | can say that we
had a pregnancy reaction (toad test) carried oyt already eight days after non-
appearance of the next dye period, which ran positively and had thereby been
the confirmation of g pregnancy. Because we wanted to have a second child,
we were very happy about the confirmation of pregnancy. .

\NN@N\/ 11
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Contergan-forte in the early pregnancy. | agree that our chiid S. be examined
for expert opinion by an expert yet to be named by the Public Prosecutor in

Aachen.

GRT.0001.00180.0076: 19 March 1964 Deposition Dr Joachim Heinrich (Grt
employee

From 1957 to 1962 | was employed by the Gruenenthal Company as a
clinical-scientific employee. It was my responsibility to inform the large
government hospitals in Hamburg and Schleswig Holstein of the importance
and possible applications of preparations, mainly of the Gruenenthal
Company. My scientific documents, which made such information possible,
had been received from the management of the medical-scientific department
of the company. It follows from this fact that it would have been highly
improbable that Dr. Brandt, who had worked as a GP in Luebeck, could have
been visited by me. | cannot recollect any such visit.

Under Query: It is possible that Herr Meyer, who at the same time had visited
doctors established in the city of Luebeck, had been informed by Dr Brandt in
this regard and that he had reported this to me. In any case, it was his duty to
inform not me but the scientific management of the Chemie-Gruenenthal
Company in relation to this (about deformities or theratogenic properties of
Contergan), which had been presumed by Dr Brandt. This notification, had
. Herr Meyer passed it on to me, was in any case the first possible side effect of

this preparation in this direction, which however was based only on

" conjecture. As far as | can remember, | had related this to the manager of
scientific field services in a discussion on the occasion of a scientific evening
in Hamburg. Nevertheless, Herr Meyer should have passed on a written
report about it the company independently of this, because it was my function
to advise local employees, who were not fully qualified medica] people, in
relation to purely medical-technical questions at their request, Because the
above mentioned area of questions had been completely new and
unexplained, it cauld not have resufied in any comment whatsoever from me,

SRT.0001.00180.0237: 19 Feburary 1964 Statement of Meyer {Grt
amployee to whom Dr Brandt reported the malformed baby)

The company Chemie Griinenthal is the developer and manufacturer of the
sleeping aid and sedative Contergan. During my visits to various doctors |
recommended this drug, since at the time | was not aware of any harmful
effects. My district covered the northern part of Hamburg and the southern
part of Schleswig-Holstein. Dr. Hermann Brandt of Liibeck, Ostpreuflenring
35, was one of the doctors | visited. | visited him, like the other doctors in my
district, about every 6 months. From memory | visited him about 4 or 5 times.
During one of these visits, Dr Brangt expressed the suspicion that
Contergan may be harmful. He had a patient in his practice who had given
birth to a malformed child, where it was certain that she had taken Contergan.
[ cannot say off the top of my head when this conversation between me and
Dr. Brandt took place. It is possible that the conversation took place in
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published a seminar paper on the subject in line with my tests. | explained on
fy own accord that the problem was therefore d

Thalidomide from the market in
connection with the suspicion indicated by Dr. Lenz, Although | had heard
previously Contergan was Suspected of causing Polyneuritis. However, since
the whole efiology based on the publications seemed unclear to me, and
mareover | had no knowledge of the numerically larger extent of the side
effects, this problem did not seem very urgent to me. | continued to prescribe
Contergan without hesitation, especially since no urgent warn
from the company's side.

After the allegedly low number of side effects became known, however, |
again urgently advised the mothers of the children treated by me to stay in
line with the prescription. In answer to the question of malformations itseif |
can say that about 2 years before the withdrawal of Contergan from the
market, an increased rise in maiformations jn newborns wanted and
discussed. It was not, however, a specific type of damage to the foetus but an
increase per se. About 9 months before the withdrawal of Contergan,

the company to be respectable with wide testing possibi
assumed that the tompany was partially attacked based on professionai
jealousy. On my own accord | therefore orwarded my publication from 1956 to
Chemie Griinenthal, as wel| as the papers mentioned therein. No discussions
with any members of the company's management took piace. The contact
was maintained either through correspondence or Conversations with Dr.
Glasmacher, The Correspondence shouid essentially be available to the
prosecuting authority. in my opinicn no further discussions took place.

Even today | do not maintain any connections to the manufacturer which
would go beyond the ysual extent of what happens betwaen the doctor and
the pharmaceutical industry,

As already indicated, 1 used to he involved in scientific research relating to the
effect of medication on the unborn child.

Question:
Would you have considered it essential in the years from 1956 to 1961 for a

and to pursue possible tests in this direction?

Answer:
If a pharmaceutical company at that time had received knowledge, as part of

the report of side effects,
of the effect of g medication in its program on thyroids, it woyld have been the

company's duty to examine the relevant literature, to consider any possible /L d

foetal damage and to conduct the relevant _
@ 135 ﬁ
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Archive document: 13 August 1964, Statement of Dr K (who reported to Grt in
1959 his suspicions that thalidomide was responsible for his son’s
malformations)

When visited in his surgery, the gynaecologist/obstetrician Dr med. (K) ...
made the following statement:

On 19.3.1959-my son (S) was born. He had deformed ears and also a visual
problem. Naturally, both my wife and ! speculated about the cause of these
deformities. There were no genetically determined injuries on either side of
the family. This prompted me to think that Contergan might be responsible for
the deformities. | discussed these thoughts at length with my wife,

I am asked whether | discussed the abovementioned considerations also with
a representative of Chemie Grunenthal. Early in the 1950s | was working at
the hospital in Leverkusen. It was there that | met Dr Mannheim from Chemie
Grinenthal, After | settied here in Dormagen in 1957, he aiso visited in his
capacity as a sales representative. A certain social contact developed quickly,
we visited each other with our wives every 3 months or so. Just as frequently,
Dr Mannheim visited my surgery in his capacity as a representative of the
Stolberg company. | can recall with certainty that | made a possible
connection between Contergan and my son’s deformities a5 early as 1959, In
the same year, my wife and | had discussed this problem with Dr Mannheim
at various times.

As we had our doubts about such a small amount of Contergan — my wife had
only taken a few tablets — causing this extent of damage, we felt compelled to
discuss this question in great detail with Dr Mannheim. He always explained
that he just could not imagine thalidomide causing these type of injuries. |
would like to clarify what | mean by ‘explained’: Dr Mannheim did not offer an
official explanation on behalf of his company; these were discussion in which
we each stated our opinion openly. in any case, he always maintained that he
was sure Contergan couid not cause this extent of damage. | established at
least a further two maiformations during 1958 which | also connected with
Contergan. These suspicions were later also canfirmed.

After the problem of Contergan and deformities became known to the general
public at the end of 1961, | researched both cases — one is a birth which took
place on 17.6.1959 and the other one in July 1959. Both women confirmed
credibly that they had taken thalidomide during the pregnancy. | cannot
remember whether | brought up these two women in connection with
Contergan when talking to Dr Mannheim back in 1959. In any case, | can
confirm with certainty by way of my documentation — | cannot give any
particulars because of medical confidentiality ~ that | did speak with Dr
Mannheim about ‘Contergan suspicions’ in regard to my son as early as 1958,
After checking with my wife just now, | do think these conversations were
most probably not held in a social context, but with Dr Mannheim in my
surgery. My wife cannot remember such conversations in any case. However,
| do know for certain that | had discussed this topic with Dr Mannheim during

this particular time period. |
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The specialist Dr med. Amd S ¢ h u p pius, 44 years old, residing at the
hospital ‘Deisterhort’, answered as follows when he was asked during a visit
at the hospital ‘Deisterhort’ in Bad Minder:

“My statement deals with the fact that | had the opportunity during my
employment as a doctor in the hospital to work with infections via the placenta
and therefore have knowledge which eriables me to assess the transfer of
orally administered medication on the growing baby.

It was this knowledge of transfer of medications that prompted me to point out
during my work at Griinenthal that Contergan should be tested to ascertain
whether this substance might possibly be the cause of embryopathies.
According to my knowledge, the molecular size would allow for transfer of this
substance to the child via the placenta, causing the kind of damage which is
already extensively documented in scientific literature.

My advice given in the weekly discussions was received extremely positively
by Dr Wemer and Dr Oswald, however, in my opinion it was ignored by
management, even though | offered to conduct the experiments myself.
That is the reason | quit my position there.” .

In cooperation with various pharmaceutical companies, especially with the
company G e i g y (Dr Pulver) | conducted spectrographic examinations to
determine the transfer of a medication via the placenta. These studies of mine
were published in the technical journal Medizinische Welt [Medical World]. |
will be making a special reprint available.

I started my university studies in 1938 — however, they were interrupted
because of the war — and completed my state examination in the autumn of
1852 and received my PhD at the same time.

In 1958 | was abie to receive the accreditation as a specialist
dynaecologist/obstetrician after years of working at the women’s clinic
Hamburg-Altona, Bulowstr. 9, under the supervision of Prof. Willi Schulz.

| left Hamburg for family reasons and applied as a researcher with the
company Grinenthal, because the area of antibiotics holds a special interest
for me. My employment commenced at the beginning of October 1961. As
part of the work in the company’s medical-scientific department it was my task
to work on a specific section of the antibiotic program. This was to be from a
gynaecologist's viewpoint.

[ was shown a section of the interview with Dr Oswald from 6.12.62 (page 14
~ page 175 241 HA)).

The content corresponds to what | know today and | can fully confirm this.

My initial statements about testing substances was discussed at Griinenthal
at the end of November or beginning of December 1961, after Dr Lenz'

accusations were known. ﬁ%\
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I am presented with the copy of a letter by Dr von Schrader dated 05 July
1957, in which | am asked to trial Contergan at my clinic. | commented on this

as follows:

I do not recall receiving the letter. An original that would match the copy
cannot be found in my records nor in the records of the outpatient department.
A carbon copy — as is always produced at our premises ~ of an answer in
which | may have consented fo or declined such examinations, couid not be
located either. In the 29 years during which I have been the head of the
Women's University Hospital Bonn, | do not remember ever approving a new
preparation declared as a sleep medication for a clinical trial, and | therefore
presurme that the letter presented to me in form of a copy remained
unanswered,

I know Dr von Schrader because his wife gave birth at my clinic. Although |
would not recognise him today,

"I do not maintain any contacts to members of the Chemie Griinenthal
comparty.

After preparations containing thalidomide had been withdrawn from the
market, Dr Glasmacher of Chemie Griinenthal approached my clinic with the
request — | correct myself: On 21 May 1962 a Dr Glasmacher of Grilnenthal
visited me and spoke to me about Contergan cases. | can conclude from my
notes that I did not tell her any particulars and [that |] declined giving any
significant information.

| do not recall having in any way again spoken to or negotiated with the
GrOnenthal company or any of their representatives since that visit by Dr
Glasmacher. It was only now when 1 was advised of the visit by Prosecutor
Knipfer, that | had someone locate the note dated 21 May 1962 in my diary,
and learnt upon questioning my staff that they know Dr Glasmacher from
visits to the clinic, which she evidently conducts routinely, just like it is also
done on a regular basis by the representatives of other companies of the

chemical industry.

Archive document: 5 September 1969, opinion by Professor Dr Dietrich Starck
re the generation testing of Thalidomide.

The Senior Public Prosecutor at the District Court Aachen asked me in his
letter of 4 June 1969 to prepare a supplementary expert opinion in relation to
the question:

“Which results would generational studies with Thalidomide have produced in
the years 1954 to 1957 on those animal species, the use of which was
already possible at that time”. :

The reply to the question posed requires initially clarification of the

subguestion, which laboratory animals were available already in 1954 to 1957 ﬂwt\
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HARMS, J.W. “Reproduction biclogy” and “Pregnancy and birth” in
primatology |. 1956

This answers the question as to which laboratory animals were available in-
the years 1954 to 1857.

It is more difficult to answer the question, which laboratory animals should
have been used if substances were to be tested for teratogenic effects and at
the same time conclusions were to be drawn in relation to human beings. 1
can only refer to my statements in my assessment of 5 April 1969 (pages 8
and 9). Translating the results from animal experiments to human beings is
only possible with criticism. The experiment on animals not resulting in any
teratogenic effects in the offspring does not mean that the substance used is
harmiess for humans. Due fo the big differences in the placenta structure and
the permeability of the placenta it is recommended in any case, if the tests
with laboratory rodents turn out negative, to perform tests on monkeys. Only
monkeys have a structure of a limiting membrane between mother and
embryo which is similar to those of humans. If the test on monkeys turns out
negative, then it is highly probable that the behaviour in humans is the same.
This is then no absolute certainty either. Negative test results for example in
rats in my opinion do not alone justify binding conclusions with regard to
humans. They should always be supplemented by tests on monkeys. These
facts have been generally known to embryologists at least since 1909
{(publication of the placenta study by O. GROSSER).

When evaluating such tests, a number of further aspects must be taken info
consideration. 1) The embryos must be carefully checked for malformations.
An external inspection is not sufficient. It is necessary to dissect the embryos
in rows of sections and fo expertly examine those. Experiences with
examinations of embryos fram mothers who had Gerrman measles showed
that in the beginning, malformations had often been overlooked because the
embryos had only been examined superficially.

2} It must be ascertained that the substance to be tested reaches the correct
site of action, i.e. the tissue of the embryo. It must, therefore, cross the
placenta barrier and must not be broken down in the mother's body
beforehand, or excreted from it. .

The substance must also not be broken down immediately in the embryo. If
the substance is administered per os (orally), it must be ensured that it is
absorbed in the intestinal tract.

3) The substance must reach the correct site of action at the right time. As |
indicated in my report of 5 May 1969, the fact that different parts of the

embryo are sensitive at different times plays a part. These critical or sensitive
phases start in various embryonic stages not simultaneously. The conclusion
from this is that for generational studies, a series of tests is to be prepared

and that the substance to be tested is to be used in various phases of the

early pregnancy. The crucial point is that staggered tests are performed at the
time of body and organ formation, i.e. in monkeys during the first 4-6 weeks of -
pregnancy. Later phases of the gravidity are often already insensitive, apart

from the sexual organs. g\/\ :
: 143 | M/
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maliformation in intravenous use in rabbits are disproved by the findings of
SCHUMACHER and others that the solutions were hydrolysed.

Malformations following the use of Thalidomide were also found in pigs, cats
and dogs (DELATOUR 1965). .

From all the laboratory animals, monkeys (rhesus monkey, long-tail
macaque, baboon) have proven io be the most sensitive. They already
respond to much lower dosages than other laboratory animals. Malformations
following the use of Thalidomide were found in Macaca irus philippinensis by
DELAHUNT a. LASSEN 1964. HENDRICKX, AXELROD and CLAYBORN
1966 obtained typically malformed fetuses in baboons.

WILSON and GAVAN treated Macaca mulatta and found typical phokomelia
of the arms in animals which had been given Thalidomide between the 24"
and 27™ day. Malformations of the hind legs occurred following Thalidomide
treatment on the 30" day of the pregnancy. BARROW-STEFFEL-KING
1968/69 also obtained malformations of the extremities and malformations on
the intestinal tract, gall bladder and coronary arteries following the use of
Thalidomide on the 27", 28" and 29™ day of the gravidity in Macaca mulatta, |
am aware that L SCHMIDT in the USA produced typical malformations due to
Thalidomide in macaques. The resuits have not been published yet.

The question posed to me is answered by these statements. The laboratory
animals available in the years 1954 to 1957 have been named. There can be
no doubt that generational studies, taking into consideration the stated

criteria, would in those years have led to the same results as were achieved in

the following years,
Frankfurt / Main, 5 September 1969 Prof. Dr. Dietrich Starck
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GRT.0001.00062.0242 4 January 1962 letter by Astra, Argentina, to von
Schrader (Grt)

if we follow the drastic recommendations and write off Sotenil in Argentine
with one single strike, this company will not only suffer a moral and economic
loss, but foresee a very difficult read for Chemie Grunenthal ever to come
back to the Argentine market.

Would you please give me your frank and personal opinion on the possible
drawbacks of following my suggestions, i. € : to sell out existing stocks and
then slowly forget about Softenil. In the meantime, we could warn all the
doctors of prescribing it to pregnant women,

GRT.004.01678.0388: 28 Fehruary 1962 Letter from Lebanese doctor to Grt
Dear Sir,

| am (Redacted), from Zahle, Lebanon, and have been in practice for ten
years. | am married and have a chiid now two and one half years old, She
was born in perfect condition. My wife is American; 22 years old and in perfect
health. | am 34 years old now and have been all my life in perfect health.
Seven years age we had a baby girl born with the following deformities:

1. Absence of radius in the left arm with a vestigial thumb on both hands.
2. Both hands are turning in.

3. A short radius in the right arm.

4. The left arm is short and the muscles of the left shoulder are atrophied.

[ am sending you x-rays and photographs which were {aken at the age of
three weeks. Copies of these x-rays and photographs were sent to Canada to
Dr. Martin A. Entin M.D., Medical arts building, Montreal. Dr. Martin is a world
known specialist in the reconstructive surgery of arm and hand deformities.
He has written many articles and given reports on this subject in the North
American Journal of Surgery and Jeint Surgery, That is why | knew about him
and wrote to him asking his advice about our child. | received an answer from
him dated Qctober 5, 1961 in which he advises me to take the child to him
when she is three years old. The child will need a number of surgical
procedures which would take a minimum of three year's time. All the surgical
procedures would give some partial use to the hands but the aesthetic
appearance will never be satisfactory.




d
8T

1¥9 ‘suabjne
0} selojeIOgET UBLISSOLG wo.i repe zggt yoadep g 0Z20°69L00°L000" LY¢

{peroepey)
'sinoA Ajptaoulg
UiBLiel | 'uoos noA woy tesy oy Bulysipa

‘NONILJ0g Aoy inok 40 uohelwpe pue abps|mouy
AW Jje pasumoun U3lum onpousd ey pue ‘DUOSILI000.IpAY LM uojinsoupig
‘uojinsoupiqg JABUMID-oulIoH ‘Haountg ‘auiljsoebapy ‘Teusuonail

. ‘sie0h saulp
Ised ou) U Buiguose.d JoJ Auediwon 1ok WIog premar AW sq fim jeym Jepuom |

[BLLIoU 0) 8500 spuey yum ppyo Aw bBujess jo adoy

B3 Ut ises| Je utes | Auusd Aions Aed Inw pue Bugjim we mou | "SajULIoep
184 Ym pliys Aws ess | sy Aisae $80UaNbasuoo By} Joyns oy SABY | MON
"BliMm AL 0} ] aAlB O} S8JUBLD s83] peY ey pinom | os docmtom pajjes Bnip
€ 40 pIedY JoAsU pey pue Jopop e Usaq teasu pey | mou ysim | "Uous)og
Jonpoid unok oy SOLLOES B sem yojym ‘an Aw up paysiiays 1sow ay ‘esen

Aw Ag HOBULIOMUI JO Piooal INOA Yo O} mou nof o} Bupum wie | Aym SRV

‘epjulopyey | Butureiuoo sBnup

0} pajuiod sBuipuy sisuy; e pue 108igns jey) uo SSIIsIBAIUN pue sI0jo0p Aq
Speul aism suolebyseay; ﬁ,cm“mtwmgé_mc_n_ozv ‘Auewisg) jsepp ul Awspide
SWIes sy punoy [ pun PunebBisaaul pue Buipesi 1dey | pue Bujuaddey

HONS Jo S0uspldw0o sy Aq sjonys sem I8l 1B Y "NONT L4008

NoA ejuuosuy pue ssausnoassy 10} paquoseld | pue U Jo sjusned

Sl8M USIPIIYo oMy ssou Jo sisyiow Byl Ispinoys sy; yo ybiess swes

SPUBY 8U] "ffe je sule ou pey Wsy} Jo suQ "pliyo ino uel; asiom siem Uolym
sulle Jaddn Jrey jo SSHULOBD UNIMLOE | JO JaLUnsS awes U} Ul Lioq selgeq
1810 om) mes | usym Aywiopep siyt Buisneo Jojoey Ao auy Buieq sk uousyog
1oadsns o} uebaq | ‘essney 104 SUIXopuAd Joy aAeb | ‘Bluwlosuy 104 ‘“Asueubsid
18y Bupnp o003 ays Brip Ajuo sy sem 1By "dnis pue sie|ge) uousyog

184 BABY SaWBWOS | 08 'NONT 140S way) buowe spnpoad [BljUanIS ay)
J0 Jaljipe ue yons sem ) sours pue AoueuBald jo syjuow S8l 381y Jay Buunp
EBluluosul wioys Bullayns sem sym Aw 80Ul Joaye Brup swos o Aqissod 8}
10} Bupyoress ydey | “jeuroy UHIG 8U] pue uu) jing 1e sem Kisnija(t “Aoueubaud
18y Buiinp saseas|p Aue SABY LUDIp aym AN sUIW pue s seyjow ay] ‘'sopis
Hoq woy siojoey Areypasay Aue PULLLUPIP | “sanjuliojep yons jo ABojons

oy bugeBnsaaur uy Pelsalelul Aton useq saey | pyo tno 40 UHIg sy soug

‘P19l sIu} Ul isijeoads
UMO pliom ssipoue osje Sl oym ‘Assiap mop ‘Snysu; is|ssey Jo "I 19[ssay
Aush g o) S81E1S payun ey 0} JUes clam SABRI-X pue sydelbojoyd B0




| am enclosing herewith a photo static copy of an article that appeared in the
Medical World News, which is also distributed in Mexico. We frankly cannot
continue with Talargan in view of this article, for if we were to continue, our
competitors would very definitely show this article to the Medical Profession
.and we would be condemned for maintaining it in our line to the point of where
it may insure us very seriously, and it is my definite decision to discontinue it. |
have today issued the necessary orders not only to withdraw dispatching any
further orders, but to withdraw everything presently on the market from
wholesalers and pharmacies.

I regret that this action had to be taken, especially in view of the fact that we
have a substantial amount of money invested in the product, and we shall, of
course, expect you to credit us for all new raw material, finished material and
literature not used to date, as | believe you were completely wrong in
suggesting that we continue with the product as it was stilil on sale in other

countries.

-

I believe you can understand me taking this action, as | must very definitely
protect the reputation of our business, but beyond that, | could not live with
myself if it was brought to my attention that one child was born deformed
because of a product sold by us.

GRT.0001.00064.0157: 31 August 1962 Lefter from Somers, DCBL to Loschner,
GRT

h | have made no different findings in rats mice and rabbits to those already
reported to you. The rabbit experiment | have repeated three times and at the
dose level of 150 mg/kg the incidence of malformed litters has been almost
100 per cent. | have also had malformations at lower dose levels namely
30mg/kg and 7mg/kg. A litter at this lowest dose level contained two young
which were veritable monsters.

I ook forward to having your results shortly, and | hope that you will soon be
successful in getting malformations like mine. If you are getting resorptions
then you should be able to get malformations providing you get the conditions
right. This implies the right dose, the right level of dosing and the right strain
of rabbit. Diet may also be most important.

Other Companies who have been trying my technique in this country have
been successful (Wyeth, May and Baker, Pfizer), but there hjave been failures
reported from two sources. In one of these dosing was started on the 2 day
of pregnancy and all the rabbits showed resorptions.

GRT.0006.04254.0012: November 1967, statement by Lederle Laboratories as
to reproduction studies in animals begun prior to 1961 by American Cyanamid

personnel. %
BT 2



..mﬂ_w QS? ._m.ccmwumtﬂ P_Wwwm_.m p.“.m._mmzm:d Uy

oqieiy
05t 1924 BUN0D (O 'BE [Bren
- Jopion
Hivd
ol ..w._Oume
( ¢lL0z Ainr jo Aep el QIHL
( BLOIDIA JO 81818 oy U

( b/ %\M 7 § LV Q3NY144Y

196
£297¥59 ¢ [00BlIeYd "ddy JoDX0 ] "siel Ul BpLojYo0IpAY auljdhornaUo|YD
10 Apomxol syp Jo Apmis Jesf-om L T "M UBAIING pue [ 4 ‘Nessag

€961 1£2-022 ‘v JodBIIE]d "ddy "Joo%o 1 "sBop pue sjes uj suojexousydsiu
uo seipnis Ayoxoy ¢ NEIUZOAA pue Y ‘B0Y Y DISEIOW 1y ZIuag

(‘pouoyusiy seipris Buipsaig ON)

sSleliuy 1se] au3 JO Ejjejiuac) Lo ST ¢

e 105 AINOJ "susxoiyo Ut suied wiblem pue Aiqeyoiey “Aiisy uoponpoid
Bbe uo O0ZEIYI0IU-G " OPIUILURIB0E-Z jO yo/mtm_ 'd Jeybuln) pue p -y ‘soud

V961 2 L-L2) ¢ TO0BWIRY a0y O5IXOL "uIpap Jo ADIX0} JIUCIUD
PUE SINo. °g "D 'Usyeys pue p'r Apeln 0 g 7 ‘QUOPIA T 'S ‘seysuiner]

9861 LP8— €29 (11} 9 1ayjowsy s oignuy ‘suolieysjuiwpe
sulpAdeeHo o uiel-Buol 1o sjoaye aup 1o [esieidde Uy Y ] ‘seulq

7961
1 — 6 (} )9 T630UIIeyg Tady JODIXO] "Sjel au) jo MoiB pue Anjisy ey
U0 spuojyoopAy aufohorieiojys jo 10848 aly) 'H "0 ‘sulH pue pp ‘g ‘AssieH

001 ubielspa] 'siel Jo Ajntay
uo Buipes) sunpoenayojyo Wwisl-Buol Jo 10ay3 "H D ‘BulH pu M g ‘Asojen

1961 22161} mwm ‘PO [0l "pOXT T30S 0014 “jed ey | auljoAoeBHo0
pejssbul jo lejsuen Alswilew pue [glusoeid HY IuBNym pue 4y noyg

"S$8IPNIS UC[dNpoIday |
Jualupeda(] seolADg BInjeISyT 8y} Ag paledaly

(190}
01 Joud unfaq saipnys uo [euosied plureuelyy uesusuly Ag sieded paysiignd)

‘uoR9NpoIdal tio S}ONpoId PIOTENEAD UBIIIaNY JO S106413




